IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOEL SISTRUNK

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-0179-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

1. State of Mississippi
2. Joel Sistrunk, Appellant
3. Honorable Dee T. Bates, District Attorney
4. Honorable Michael M. Taylor, Circuit Court Judge

This the 14th day of July, 2009.

Respectfully Submitted,

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

BY:


Hunter N Aikens

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EXHIBIT S-1, AS IT WAS OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF SISTRUNK'S FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS UNDER *MIRANDA V. ARIZONA*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

II. THE STATE COMMITTED PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN OFFERING EXHIBIT S-1 INTO EVIDENCE DESPITE THE MOTION IN LIMINE PROHIBITING EVIDENCE OF PRIOR CONVICTIONS AND PRIOR BAD ACTS EVIDENCE.

III. SISTRUNK'S TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE BY FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF EXHIBIT S-1 AND TO THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT RECOUNTING THE PREJUDICIAL EVIDENCE CONTAINED IN EXHIBIT S-1.

IV. THE STATE COMMITTED A DISCOVERY VIOLATION RELATING TO MILLS' TESTIMONY CONCERNING THE MILLIGRAM AMOUNT OF THE PILLS RECOVERED FROM

SISTRUNK'S TRUCK.

V. THE VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE AND WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case proceeds from the Circuit Court of Walthall County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for possession of at least two (2) but less than ten (10) dosage units of hydrocodone entered against Joel Sistrunk following a jury trial held on October 8, 2008, the Honorable Michael M. Taylor, Circuit Judge, presiding. (C.P. 86-88, Tr. 157, R.E.2-4). Sistrunk was adjudged a habitual offender under Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-81, and the trial court sentenced him to serve a term of eight (8) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (C.P. 87-88, Tr. 167, R.E, 3-4). The trial court denied Sistrunk's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for a new trial. (C.P. 89-97, R.E. 5-9). Sistrunk is presently incarcerated and now appeals to this Court for relief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 4, 2007, Tracy O'Quin of the Tylertown Police Department received a report that a late model yellow truck was driving carelessly down Highway 27 in Tylertown, Mississippi. (Tr. 109-10, 119). Officer O'Quin waited near an intersection in his patrol car, and, a few minutes later, a late model yellow truck drove by. (Tr. 110, 119). Officer O'Quin followed the truck and pulled it over after the truck allegedly crossed over the center line. (Tr. 110, 119).

Officer O'Quin approached the driver's side of the truck and noticed Sistrunk, who Officer O'Quin had known "for quite some time." (Tr. 111). Officer O'Quin claimed to smell alcohol coming from the truck; however, he was unsure whether the odor was emanating from Sistrunk or

³ Specifically, defense counsel stated, "Pretty short motion, Your Honor, in keeping past conduct, past bad conduct and criminal convictions of the Defendant." (Tr. 92).

² At trial, Officer O'Quin explained that a "kick panel" is the "metal strip or a plastic strip between the driver's seat and the door that holds the carpet down. . . ." (Tr. 118-19).

¹ From the record, it appears that Officer O'Quin and Bertram O'Quinn were not related. (See Tr. 105).

Prior to trial, Sistrunk made a motion in limine to exclude prior bad acts evidence including prior convictions.³ (Tr. 92). The trial court granted this motion, and ruled that such evidence would

conversation was tape-recorded; Sistrunk was not informed of this. (Tr. 120). Sistrunk to the police station and spoke with him about acting as a confidential informant; the hydrocodone. (Tr. 122, 141, Ex. S-1 at 02:55). Later that day, Officer O'Quin and Agent Hill called On August 9, 2007, Officer O'Quin filed charges against Sistrunk for possession of informant. (Tr. 117).

date of his arrest), apparently because he indicated that he wanted to work as a confidential agent. (Tr. 113-14). Sistrunk was not charged with possession of hydrocodone on July 4, 2007 (the not charge Sistrunk with a DUI; instead, he turned Sistrunk over to Agent Aubrey Hill, a narcotics test that indicated that Sistrunk was not over the legal limit for alcohol. (Tr. 120). Officer Quin did pills that he believed to be hydrocodone. (Tr. 111). Officer O'Quin later administered a breathalyzer Officer O'Quin then opened the door, retrieved the small brown bottle, opened it, and found three According to Officer O'Quin, Sistrunk granted him permission to search his truck. (Tr. 111).

work, and he did not have anything illegal in his truck. (Tr. 111). kind of between the seat and the door. . . ." (Tr. 111).² Sistrunk said that he drank a beer or two after Sistrunk opened the door, he (Officer O'Quin) noticed "a small brown bottle lying on the kick panel his passenger, Bertram O'Quin. (Tr. 111).¹ He then asked Sistrunk to step out of the car, and, when

be excluded unless Sistrunk first opened the door, and the State then approached the bench to obtain leave. (Tr. 93-95, R.E. 10-13).

During the State's direct examination of its first witness, Officer O'Quin, the State introduced into evidence a copy of a tape-recorded statement between Sistrunk, Officer O'Quin, and Agent Hill that took place on August 9, 2007. (Tr. 116, Ex. S-1). On the tape the officers, accused Sistrunk of telling others that the police planted the pills in his truck. (Ex. S-1 at 00:58-01:32). Officer O'Quin testified that the purpose of the tape was to clear this issue up: "I wanted him to state the truth." (Tr. 116, 121). Sistrunk denied saying that the officer's planted the drugs in his truck. (Ex. S-1 at 00:58-01:32). He also admitted that his mother gave him a couple pain pills about a week earlier for back pain. (Ex. S-1 at 01:36-01:40). Officer O'Quin then informed Sistrunk that he filed charges against him earlier that morning for possession of hydrocodone. (Ex. S-1 at 02:55). The conversation then continued on the topic of Sistrunk possibly acting as a confidential informant. (Ex. S-1). One of the Officers stated to Sistrunk: "I know - - - cause I've known you a long time. . . I know there's somebody - - - you can go right now if you wanted something and go score something." (Ex. S-1 at 03:53-04:08). Sistrunk stated, "I know where the crack dealers are, don't get me wrong." (Ex. S-1 at 04:07-04:09). He then talked about numerous people he knows who sell or use various drugs and various places that drugs are sold. (Ex. S-1 at 04:10-14:00).

On the tape, Sistrunk also talked about his prior charges and incarceration; at one point, he stated, "I know two people that I can get, they said they were willing to help me anyway to keep me from going back to the penitentiary." (Ex. S-1 at 04:19-04:25). At another point, Sistrunk stated, "[t]his was when I got tied up and was spouse' to give [someone] one point three grams of marijuana, and I stayed in Marion County court for over four years. First they say they had audio and video of me giving it to him. . . ." (Ex. S-1 at 11:15-). He also stated, "well they come arrest me and took me

over to Marion County and I had to make bond the next day . . . and when I got out of jail . . . ” (Ex. S-1 at 11:56-12:09).

At trial, the bottle found in Sistrunk's truck and the pills discovered therein were admitted into evidence as exhibits. (Tr. 112-13, Ex. S-5, S-6). Page Mills, a forensic scientist with the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, tested the pills. (Tr. 124-28). Mills testified that the tablets contained hydrocodone and acetaminophen; she testified that “the acetaminophen is 650 milligrams, and the hydrocodone is 10 milligrams.” (Tr. 129). However, the crime lab report Mills prepared does not contain a milligram amount for either acetaminophen or hydrocodone. (Tr. 129-30, Ex. S-7). Mills claimed that the milligram of Sistrunk's prescription and his mother's prescription did not match the milligram amounts of the pills that she tested—the pills recovered from Sistrunk's truck. (Tr. 131-33).

The defense called Agent Hill to testify, and attempted (apparently) to show that Sistrunk was charged with possession because the Officers were mad at him for telling others that the police planted the pills in his truck.. (Tr. 138-143). After Agent Hill's testimony the defense rested. (Tr. 143). During closing argument, the prosecutor stated:

You heard this tape of the Defendant talking. What you heard was someone who knows more about the drug trade probably than about anyone you could find. He knew who had dope, when they had dope, who he got marijuana from, who he had done dope with, time and time again. Ladies and gentlemen the evidence is clear, it's convincing, and it's beyond a reasonable doubt.

(Tr. 149). After deliberation, the jury returned a verdict of guilty. (Tr. 157).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting into evidence Exhibit S-1—the tape-recorded statement of Sistrunk. This tape was taken in violation of Sistrunk's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination as announced in *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966). Therefore,

Sistrunk is entitled to a new trial.

The tape was also admitted in direct violation of the motion in limine granted by the trial court before trial. The motion in limine excluded evidence of Sistrunk's prior bad acts and prior convictions, unless Sistrunk opened the door to such evidence and the State approached the bench and obtained leave. The tape contained volumes of extremely prejudicial, inadmissible evidence regarding Sistrunk's prior drug use, his knowledge of the drug trade in the area, as well as his own prior arrests and/or incarceration for drug related offenses. Thus, the State committed a discovery violation in offering the tape into evidence and the trial court erred in not sua sponte ordering a mistrial.

Sistrunk received constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel, in that, trial counsel failed to object to the admission into evidence of Exhibit S-1. The statement was taken in clear violation of Sistrunk's Miranda rights and it contained volumes of prejudicial evidence regarding his prior bad acts and prior arrests or incarceration that had already been excluded by a motion in limine. Under no circumstances should this evidence been admitted without objection. Trial counsel's performance on this point was deficient and it undoubtedly prejudiced Sistrunk's case and deprived him of a fair trial. Accordingly, Sistrunk is entitled to a new trial.

Additionally, the State committed a discovery violation in failing to disclose or supplement its disclosure to apprise the defense that Mills would testify as to a milligram amount of the pills she tested that were recovered from Sistrunk's truck. The State only provided the defense with Mills' crime lab report, which did not indicate that she had tested for or determined a milligram amount. Mills' trial testimony that the pills were ten (10) milligram hydrocodone pills, unfairly surprised the defense, who from Mills crime lab report, reasonably believed that Mills did not test for or reach an opinion as to the milligram amount of the pills. Therefore, Sistrunk is entitled to a new trial.

“To determine if plain error has occurred, this Court must look at whether the trial court

v. State, 907 So. 2d 389, 393-94 (¶¶9-11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)).

plain-error doctrine.” *Starr v. State*, 997 So. 2d 262, 266 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Smith*

evidence of the defendant’s statement given in violation of *Miranda* is reviewable under the

733 So. 2d 214, 233 (¶53) (Miss. 1999). This Court has previously held that “the admission into

warnings, and Sistrunk must rely on plain error to raise this argument on appeal. *Watts v. State*,

It is acknowledged that no objection was made at trial regarding the lack of *Miranda*

436 (1966).

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EXHIBIT S-1, AS IT
WAS OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF SISTRUNK’S FIFTH
AMENDMENT RIGHTS UNDER *MIRANDA* V. *ARIZONA*, 384 U.S.**

I.

ARGUMENT

sentence and fines reversed and this case remanded for a new trial.

against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and Sistrunk is entitled to have his conviction

and fines reversed and a judgment of acquittal rendered in his favor. Alternatively, the verdict was

insufficient evidence to support Sistrunk’s verdict, and he is entitled to have his conviction sentence

insufficient expert testimony under Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702. Accordingly, there was

reaching her opinion. Therefore, her opinion as to milligram amount was speculative and

on sufficient facts or data or that she relied on reliable scientific principals and/or methods in

amount. Moreover, the record does not indicate that her testimony as to milligram amount was based

her crime lab report suggested that she did not test for or reach an opinion as to the milligram

evidence upon which the merits of Sistrunk’s case turned. Mills’ testimony was incredible because

weight of the evidence. Mills’ testimony regarding the milligram amount of the pills was the crucial

Finally, the verdict was supported by insufficient evidence and was against the overwhelming

deviated from a known legal rule, whether that deviation created an error which was plain, clear, or obvious, and whether the deviation prejudiced the eventual outcome of the trial.” *Starr*, 997 So. 2d at 266 (¶11) (citing *McGee v. State*, 953 So. 2d 211, 215 (¶8) (Miss. 2007)).

The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides in pertinent part; “No person shall . . . be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself.” U.S. Const. Amend. V. Similarly, Article 3, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution provides, in pertinent part: “In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall . . . not be compelled to give evidence against himself.” Miss. Const. Art. 3 § 26.

In *Miranda v. Arizona*, the United States Supreme Court outlined the now-familiar warnings police officers must give to suspects in their custody before they may interrogate, in order to protect the suspect’s privilege against self-incrimination. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966). The Court, in *Miranda*, stated that “[t]he Fifth Amendment privilege is so fundamental to our system of constitutional rule and the expedient of giving an adequate warning as to the availability of the privilege so simple, we will not pause to inquire in individual cases whether the defendant was aware of his rights without a warning being given.” *Miranda*, 86 U.S. at 468, 86 S.Ct. at 1625.

“The threshold question in a *Miranda* rights analysis is whether the defendant was in custody and being interrogated when the statement in question was made.” *Neese v. State*, 993 So. 2d 837, 842 (¶8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)(quoting *Drake v. State*, 800 So. 2d 508, 513 (¶12) (Miss. 2001)). In *Drake v. State*, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

The test for whether a person is in custody is whether a reasonable person would feel that she was in custody. That is, whether a reasonable person would feel that she was going to jail-and not just being temporarily detained.... Whether a reasonable person would feel that she was “in custody” depends on the totality of the circumstances. Factors to consider include: (a) the place of interrogation; (b) the time of

interrogation; (c) the people present; (d) the amount of force or physical restraint used by the officers; (e) the length and form of the questions; (f) whether the defendant comes to the authorities voluntarily; and (g) what the defendant is told about the situation.

Drake v. State, 800 So. 2d 508, 513 (¶12) (Miss. 2001) (quoting *Hunt v. State*, 687 So. 2d 1154,

1160 (Miss. 1996)).

In the instant case, the totality of the circumstances show that Sistrunk was in custody. The interrogation took place in Sheriff Duane Dillon's office. (Tr. 121). The time of the interrogation is unclear; however, it occurred shortly after Officer O'Quin filed charges against Sistrunk. The only people present were Officer O'Quin, Agent Hill, and Sistrunk. The record does not indicate that any physical force was used to restrain Sistrunk. Sistrunk was asked questions for about fifteen minutes. From the tape, it is clear that the officers were upset with Sistrunk for allegedly telling others that the pills were planted in his truck. The questions were asked in an accusatory fashion. It is unclear whether Sistrunk came to the police office voluntarily; however, the tape implies that he was ordered or at least asked to come: "You know what you're here for right?" (Ex. S-1 at 00:27) (officer to Sistrunk). On the tape, Sistrunk was told for the first time that he had been formally charged with possession or hydrocodone. (Ex. S-1 at 02:55).

Under these circumstances, a reasonable person would feel that he or she was going to jail

or was not free to leave. Thus, Sistrunk was in custody at the time the officers interrogated him. The tape (Ex. S-1) was made on August 9, 2007. (Tr. 116). That morning, before the statement was taken, Officer O'Quin signed and filed formal charges against Sistrunk for possession of hydrocodone. (Tr. 122, Ex. S-1). At the time of the statement, Officer O'Quin did not tell Sistrunk that he was being recorded. (Tr. 120). An officer, on tape, informed Sistrunk, in a sheriff's office, that charges had been filed against him for possession of hydrocodone. (Tr. 122, 141, Ex. S-1 at

As outlined above, this tape contained volumes of prior bad acts evidence and at least two references to Sistrunk's prior arrests and/or incarceration. (See Ex. S-1). One of the officers stated to Sistrunk: "I know - - - I know I've known you a long time. . . I know there's somebody - - - you can go right now if you wanted something and go score something." (Ex. S-1 at 03:53-04:08). Sistrunk stated, "I know where the crack dealers are, don't get me wrong." (Ex. S-1 at 04:07-04:09). He also exhibited a great deal of intimate knowledge about the drug trade in and around Walthall County, and he talked about numerous people he knows who sell and use various drugs as well as various places that drugs are sold. (Ex S-1 at 04:10-14:00). Sistrunk also referenced his prior charges and incarceration; at one point, he stated, "I know two people that I can get, they said they were willing

statement of Sistrunk taken by Officer O'Quin and Agent Hill on August 9, 2007. of its first witness, Officer O'Quin, it introduced into evidence Exhibit S-1—the tape-recorded bench to obtain leave. (Tr. 93-95, R.E. 10-13). Nevertheless, during the State's direct examination evidence was excluded unless Sistrunk first opened the door, and the State then approached the prior convictions. (Tr. 92, R.E. 10-13). The trial court granted this motion, and ruled that such Prior to trial, Sistrunk made a motion in limine to exclude prior bad acts evidence including

II. THE STATE COMMITTED PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN OFFERING EXHIBIT S-1 INTO EVIDENCE DESPITE THE MOTION IN LIMINE PROHIBITING EVIDENCE OF PRIOR CONVICTIONS AND PRIOR BAD ACTS EVIDENCE, AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT SUA SPONTE ORDERING A MISTRIAL.

he is entitled to a new trial. Accordingly, Sistrunk's statements on Exhibit S-1 were obtained in violation of Miranda, and Sistrunk was otherwise advised of and/or waived his Miranda rights before giving the statement. 02:55). Sistrunk was not given any Miranda warnings on tape, and the record does not reveal that

⁴ As explained below, Sistrunk contends that he received ineffective assistance of counsel for this reason.

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