IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOEL SISTRUNK

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0179

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

61 , 6
I
Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-19-83 (Rev.2007)
STATE STATUTES
Woodson v. State, 845 So.2d 740, 742 (Miss.Ct.App.2003)
Withers v. State, 907 So.2d 342, 350-51 (Miss.2005)
9 (1002.sziM) 781, 181 b2.o2 497, 94ste, 794 So.2d 181, 187 (Miss.2001)
9 (9991.333 Co.2d 214, 233 (Miss. 1999)

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

If a contemporaneous objection is not made, an appellant must rely on plain error to raise

the argument on appeal. Watts v. State, 733 So.2d 214, 233 (Miss.1999). "The plain error doctrine requires that there be an error and that the error must have resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice." Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181, 187 (Miss.2001) (citing Gray v. State, 549 So.2d 1316, 1321 (Miss.1989)). "Further, this Court applies the plain error rule only when it affects a defendant's substantive/fundamental rights." Id. (citing Grab v. State, 584 So.2d 786, 289 (Miss.1991)). Analysis of the plain error rule includes a determination of whether there is, in fact, "error," that is, some deviation from a legal rule. United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725,

732-33, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 123 L.Ed.2d 508 (1993). Sistrunk argues that the tape was inadmissible because he allegedly was not given a Miranda warning when the statement was taken and was thus "compelled to give evidence against himself." However, Sistrunk agreed to the admission of the tape. He was not compelled to give this evidence against himself at trial, but rather submitted it himself for pre-marking as evidence in the case in agreement with the prosecution. (Tr. 96) And, further, the defense counsel worked in concert with the court to ensure that the jury would have a way to hear the tape in the jury room. (Tr. 96)

and Agent Hill is error because Sistrunk made the statement in the absence of Miranda warnings. However, the failure to raise a contemporaneous objection was not an unintentional omission, but rather a strategic decision, an intentional waiver of the potential objections to this piece of evidence. Sistrunk cannot now claim error, plain or otherwise, where he agreed to the evidence in question and relied on it in making his defense.

Sistrunk contends that the admission of the tape of his conversation with Officer O'Quin

Further, this alleged violation of Sistrunk's 5th Amendment right against self

incrimination did not rise to the level of plain error. "The plain error doctrine has been construed to include 'anything that seriously affects the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings." "Porter v. State, 749 So.2d 250, 261 (Miss.Ct.App.1999) (quoting Olano, 507 U.S. at 736, 113 S.Ct. 1770). In this case, there is no evidence that Sistrunk was prejudiced by admission of the tape into evidence, and, in fact, his counsel believed that it inured to his benefit.

The State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct in offering S-1 as evidence at

trial.

As noted above, prior to the start of trial, counsel for the defense moved to exclude

testimony of past bad conduct and criminal convictions of the defendant. (Tr. 92) During the argument on the Motion in Limine, defense counsel did not mention the tape, but only stated, "Criminal convictions of the defendant to be excluded." (Tr. 93) The trial court stated that the defendant's Motion in Limine as to prior convictions was granted and that there would not be any mention of the prior convictions without first approaching the bench and obtaining a ruling. (Tr. 95)

Immediately after the defendant's Motion in Limine as to prior convictions was ruled on by the trial court, the parties pre-marked the evidence including the records from the pharmacy and doctors, the crime lab report, the drugs and the taped statement. All these exhibits were defense counsel did not claim surprise regarding the taped statement. In fact, the defense counsel did not claim surprise regarding the taped statement. In fact, the defense counsel did not claim surprise regarding the taped statement. In fact, the defense counsel did not claim surprise regarding the taped statement. In fact, the defense counsel did not claim surprise regarding the taped statement. In fact, the defense counsel did not claim surprise regarding the taped statement in the taped statement, which was on a compact disk, would be played to the jury. Defense counsel joined in and informed the court that the compact disk would be played to the objections, stemming from his Motion in Limine or otherwise, as to the tape. Further, where evidence is agreed upon by the parties and both side are completely informed as to the nature of evidence, there can be no prosecutorial misconduct in offering the evidence to be admitted at trial.

During the testimony of Officer Tracy O'Quin the prosecution introduced the recorded statement into evidence without objection from the defense. (Tr. 115) O'Quin attempted to testify that Agent Hill told him that Sistrunk had been telling people that O'Quin planted the

counsel. The defense strategy with regard to the tape becomes clear in defense counsel's direct Again, this waiver of objections to the tape appears to be strategic on the part of defense excepted from the Motion in Limine. (Rev.2007), and that the tape, which was an agreed upon piece of evidence, was therefore being used to charge Sistrunk pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-19-83 appears from the record that the Motion in Limine was addressed to the convictions which were Motion in Limine was ever intended to cover the tape, the objection is waived as to the tape. It again, by failing to object to the admission of the tape on grounds of 404(b), to the extent that the occurred because there had been accusations made which he wanted to clear up. (Tr. 116) Here recording using a tape record laying on the desk. He testified that the taped conversation between O'Quin, Hill and Sistrunk on August the 9^{1n} . Officer O'Quin testified that he made the testified that as a result of the conversation he had with Agent Hill a conversation took place played. The trial court sustained defense counsel's objection as to hearsay. Officer O'Quin then object on grounds of 404(b), but it was a positive statement that the defense desired the tape to be O'Quin as to how the conversation came to occur. (Tr. 115) This was not only a failure to a bench conference that he would prefer that the tape was played without the testimony from hydrocodone tablets on him. (Tr. 115) Defense counsel objected as to hearsay and stated during

counsel. The defense strategy with regard to the tape becomes clear in defense counsel's direct examination of Police Chief Aubrey Hill in Sistrunk's case-in-chief. Chief Hill was the Southwest Mississippi Marcotics Enforcement Agent at the time the conversation was taped. Defense counsel questioned Hill in detail regarding the policy of not charging confidential informants. He further suggested through his questioning that if O'Quin had not heard rumors that Sistrunk was alleging that O'Quin planted the pills on him that the charges would not have

been filed against him. (Tr. 142) It was the defense strategy at trial to use the tape to show that Sistrunk was being manipulated or punished by the officers because he did not serve as a confidential informant or because the officers were angry at him for other reasons. The defense right against self incrimination or pursuant to 404(b) or his Motion in Limine because the defense right against self incrimination or pursuant to 404(b) or his Motion in Limine because the defense right against self incrimination or pursuant to 404(b) or his Motion in Limine because the defense right against self incrimination or pursuant to 404(b) or his Motion in Limine because the defense right against self incrimination or pursuant to 404(b) or his Motion in Limine because the defense

was brought vindictively. III. Sistrunk's trial counsel provided constitutionally effective assistance of counsel

regarding the admission of S-1.

Sistrunk alleges that he was denied ineffective assistance counsel. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Sistrunk bears the burden of showing that there were deficiencies in his counsel's performance and that the deficiences prejudiced him. <u>Strickland v. Washington, 466</u>

U.S. 668, 687-96, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). There is a strong presumption that counsel's performance was within a wide range of reasonable professional assistance. <u>Moody v. State, 644 So.2d 451, 456 (Miss. 1994)</u>.

ruling in *Strickland*, the defendant must prove that his attorney's overall performance was deficient and that this deficiency deprived him of a fair trial. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; Moore v. State, 676 So.2d 244, 246 (Miss.1996) (citing Perkins v. State, 487 So.2d 791, 793 (Miss.1986)). There is a "strong but rebuttable presumption that an attorney's performance falls within a wide range of reasonable professional assistance and that the decisions made by trial counsel are strategic." *Covington v. State*, 909 So.2d 160, 162 (Miss.Ct.App.2005) (quoting

To bring a successful claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, pursuant to the court's

Stevenson v. State, 798 So.2d 599, 602 (Miss.Ct.App.2001)). Sistrunk must also overcome the "strong presumption that the attorney's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional conduct and strategy." <u>Lattimore v. State, 958 So.2d 192, 200 (Miss.2007)</u> (citing Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 969 (Miss.1985)). An additional presumption that Sistrunk must overcome is "that all decisions made during the course of trial were strategic." <u>Id.</u> (citing must overcome is "that all decisions made during the course of trial were strategic." <u>Id.</u> (citing

To overcome this presumption, the defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694; <u>Woodson v. State</u>, 845 So.2d 740, 742

(<u>Kinss.Ct.App.2003</u>).

Leatherwood, 473 So.2d at 969).

Sistrunk cannot meet the criteria set out in <u>Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687</u>, 104 S.Ct. 2025, 80 Led. 2d 674 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Sistrunk must deficiency prejudiced his Sistrunk must overcome a strong presumption that there is a reasonable probability that but for his counsel's unprofessional errors, the outcome would have been different. Woodson v. State, 845 occursel's unprofessional errors, the outcome would have been different. Woodson v. State, 845 occursel's unprofessional errors, the outcome would have been different. Woodson v. State, 845 occursel's unprofessional errors, the outcome would have been different. Woodson v. State, 845 occursel's unprofessional errors, the outcome would have been different.

As argued earlier, this waiver of objections to the tape was strategic on the part of defense counsel. The defense strategy with regard to the tape becomes clear in defense counsel's direct examination of Police Chief Aubrey Hill in Sistrunk's case-in-chief. Chief Hill was the Southwest Mississippi Marcotics Enforcement Agent at the time the conversation was taped.

Defense counsel questioned Hill in detail regarding the policy of not charging confidential informants. He further suggested through his questioning that if O'Quin had not heard rumors that Sistrunk was alleging that O'Quin planted the pills on him that the charges would not have Sistrunk was being manipulated or punished by the officers because he did not serve as a confidential informant or because the officers were angry at him for other reasons. The defense confidential informant or because the officers were angry at him for other reasons. The defense right against self incrimination or pursuant to 404(b) or his Motion in Limine because the defense planned to use the tape to suggest that Sistrunk was mistreated by the police and that the charge planned to use the tape to suggest that Sistrunk was mistreated by the police and that the charge

the wide range of reasonable professional assistance and that the decisions made by his trial counsel were strategic. This issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the

Sistrunk cannot overcome the presumption that his trial attorney's performance fell within

IV. The State did not commit a discovery violation relating to Mills' testimony concerning the milligram amount of the pills recovered from Sistrunk's truck.

trial court should be affirmed.

Sistrunk alleges unfair surprise due to the testimony of expert witness Paige Mills. Mills was qualified by the trial court pursuant to the Daubert standards as a forensic scientist. The trial court noted that Mills was qualified to testify as such and that the methods she utilized were peer-reviewed. Mills testified that she performed a literature reference as well as a gas chromatograph mass spectrometer test. (Tr. 128) She testified that the tablets found in Sistrunk's possession were composed of hydrocodone and acetaminophen. Mills further testified that the

pills contained 650 milligrams of acetaminophen and 10 milligrams of hydrocodone. (Tr. 129) Defense counsel objected to Mills' testimony regarding the milligram amount of the pills, alleging that her report did not state what dosage the pills were that Mills' testimony was the first he had heard of the dosage of the pills. (Tr. 129) The prosecutor stated for the record that he had talked to Mills and that she had identified the pills as told the defense attorney that he had talked to Mills and that she had identified the pills as Lorcets which were 10 milligrams with 650 milligrams of acetaminophen. The trial court overruled the objection, holding that defense counsel had the report and was on notice that Mills overruled the objection, holding that defense counsel had the report and was on notice that Mills was a potential witness. The trial court held that defense counsel had the opportunity to explore

the matter further. (Tr. 130)
As part of discovery, defense counsel received a copy of Aubrey Mills' report stating that

she had analyzed the evidence submitted in the case and had performed gas chromatography, mass spectrometry and literature reference in order to identify the pills. Her results and conclusions stated that the three tablets were hydrocodone and acetaminophen. (State's Exhibit,) Sistrunk argues that he was unfairly surprised when Mills testified that the hydrocodone was

desired one. If this was the remedy Sistrunk desired, it is waived. The trial court cannot be held in error on a legal point never presented for its consideration. Chase v. State, 645 So.2d 829, 846 (Miss.1994). Further, as the trial court noted, defense counsel had been made aware of this witness and had ample opportunity to interview her prior to the date of trial. Also, the prosecutor represented to the court that he had informed the defense attorney that the pills were 10 milligram

Sistrunk argues that even though his counsel did not explicitly request a continuance, he

dosage tablets.

in the amount of 10 milligrams per tablet.

Based on the procedure first outlined in Box v. State, 437 So.2d 19, 23-24 (Miss.1983), when a trial court is faced with previously undisclosed evidence to which the defendant has objected, it should give the defendant a reasonable opportunity to familiarize himself with the evidence." Bell v. State, 963 So.2d 1124, 1133 (Miss.2007). It is then the defendant's responsibility to request a continuance if, thereafter, he believes he may be prejudiced by his lack of opportunity to prepare for the admission of the evidence. Id. The defendant may also request a of opportunity to prepare for the admission of the evidence.

of opportunity to prepare for the admission of the evidence. <u>Id.</u> The defendant may also request a motion for a mistrial. <u>Id.</u> If the defendant does not request a continuance, he waives the issue. <u>Id.</u>; see also <u>Porter v. State, 869 So.2d 414, 420 (Miss.Ct.App.2004)</u> (finding an alleged discovery violation was waived on appeal for failure to request a continuance). In <u>Barnes v. State, 854</u> violation was waived on appeal for failure to request a continuance). In <u>Barnes v. State, 854</u> violation was vaived on appeal for failure to request a continuance). In <u>Barnes v. State, 854</u> violation was vaived on appeal for failure to request a continuance). In <u>Barnes v. State, 854</u> violation was vaived on a claim of an alleged discovery violation because Rule 9.04(I) "requires Barnes to have sought a continuance or mistrial, which he did not."

UCCCR 9.04, he is entitled to a new trial. However, since his attorney did not request a continuance or a mistrial and the prosecutor clearly stated that he had provided defense counsel with the information, this issue is without merit and the trial court should be affirmed.

V. The verdict was supported by the weight and sufficiency of the evidence.

Sistrunk argues that because the trial court did not "follow the procedure" set out in

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